IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

APR 29 1996

BRODERICK WENDELL MONLYN,

EME COURT

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 82,779

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE **SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET** TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case. The record on appeal consists of twenty volumes, and references to it will be by the letter "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Madison County on October 27, 1992 charged Broderick Monlyn with one count of first degree murder, one count of robbery with a deadly weapon, and one count of kidnaping while armed (R 2441-42). He pled not guilty to those charges, and the pretrial matters proceeded in the normal manner for cases of this type, except that the court moved the venue of the trial from Madison County to Lake City (T 2450, 2784)). Later, the defense or state filed the following motions or notices relevant to this appeal:

- 1. Notice of intent to offer evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts (T 2694).
- 2. Motion to Suppress Statements of Defendant (T 2739). Granted in part, denied in part (T 2739-38).
- 3. Special Jury Instructions Request (T 2964-66). Denied (T 2027-29).
- 4. Supplemental Request for Additional Jury Instruction (T 2971-72). Denied (T 2306).
- 5. Written Objection to Standard Jury Instruction on Aggravating Circumstance Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel F.S. 921.414 (5)(h). (T 2973-76).
- 6. Defendant's Requested Penalty Phase Jury Instructions (T 2977-87).

Monlyn was tried before Judge Vernon Douglas, and the jury found him

guilty as charged on all counts (T 2967). After additional evidence, argument, and law, it also recommended, by a vote of 12-0, that he die (T 2970).

Following that recommendation, the court sentenced the defendant to death.

Supporting that punishment, it found in aggravation:

- 1. Monlyn had a prior conviction for a violent felony.
- 2. He committed the murder during the course of a robbery or kidnaping.
- 3. The murder was committed for financial gain.
- 4. It was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.
- 5. It was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

(T 3930-3035).

In mitigation, the court found none of the statutory mitigators, but concluded he was affectionate and considerate toward his family, was helpful to others, had made a good adjustment to prison, and had behaved well at trial (T 3038-40).

As to the robbery while armed with a deadly weapon and kidnaping while armed convictions, the court imposed consecutive life sentences (T 3041).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Broderick Monlyn and his relatives had lived across the road in rural Madison County from the Alton Watson farm for years (T 827). Monlyn was a small man, about five feet, four inches tall and weighed 145 pounds (T 1463). Watson was 72 years old, but was five feet ten inches tall, weighed about 200 pounds and was strong (T 968, 1463). Monlyn had his own house, which was near one that his grandmother lived in (T 1116).

Now Monlyn liked to fish, and Watson had a pond on his property that the Defendant had from time to time taken some fish from (T 1004). One time, in 1990, about 18 months before the homicide, he and a cousin and a friend had trespassed on Watson's property and were enjoying passing the time at the small lake. Watson, however, interrupted their afternoon by driving up in a truck, getting out of the vehicle, telling the men to "Hold it right there," and brandishing a high powered rifle in their faces (T 1001, 1011). Monlyn had a pistol and as he reached for it he told his cousin he could have "gotten" Watson (T 1001). The other boy hit his hand, and the trio left. When they had gone about 75 yards and were off Watson's land, the defendant fired the gun several times in the air "towards" Watson (T 1003, 1021). He, in turn, squatted behind his truck and fired one shot towards them (T(1003).

Several months later, Monlyn and his cousin were in prison together. One day while they were talking, the defendant told him he was going to kill Watson (T 1009). Immediately before the homicide, Monlyn was in the Madison County jail, and he told another inmate he wanted to be out of jail for his birthday. He also would kill the first person he saw so he could get a ride (T 1059, 1092). He never said, however, that that person would be Alton Watson (T 1116).

The next day, October 6, 1992, he did escape from the jail with help from other inmates (T 1093). During the next couple of days, he apparently went to his grandmother's house, broke into his own to get some clothes and money (T 1452), and stole a shotgun from his uncle's truck to protect himself from animals (T 1431). He stayed one night in Watson's barn because he had been told the police were looking for him and would be coming to his house (T 1453, 1456). At trial, one of his cousins related that Monlyn told him he was going to rob Watson of his truck and money and go to Mexico (T 1106). Monlyn said he never planned to rob anyone (T 1456).

He loitered about the area for a day and spent a second night in Watson's barn. Early on the morning of October 8, Watson came into it, and surprised

¹ Monlyn either took or was given a sleeping bag, a sweatshirt, and a bedspread (T 845).

Monlyn as he was trying to leave (T 1459). The shotgun was propped near a wall, and both men saw it and grabbed for it (T 1461). They struggled over it with Watson shoving the smaller and lighter Monlyn about (T 1464). At this point he only wanted to leave, but Watson would not let go of him (T 1464). The gun then came apart as Watson was holding the defendant from behind. He grabbed him by the neck and was "slamming him around." (T 1469) Monlyn, by this time, had the barrel of the weapon and he began to swing the piece over his head, hitting Watson (T 1468). They struggled from the barn into the yard. By this time Watson was bleeding heavily and had stopped his attack on the defendant (T 1470). Monlyn tied his feet and hands together, gagged him, drug him into the barn, and left, taking his truck.² His wallet, with no money in it, was found near the body (T 836)

Watson had more than 30 wounds on his body, most about the face and upper torso (T 947). There were some "defensive" type injuries, but no stab wounds (T 948, 955).

The defendant took Watson's truck, drove through some fields, and finally

² The medical examiner said he could not tell the orders of the blows and admitted there was no evidence Watson had been hit after being gagged (T 956, 970, 983-84).

got onto a road (T 835).

He abandoned the truck in Lake City, bought a bike, and ran into a girl friend there (T 1130, 1149). When asked about how much money he had, he said he had to "improvise" and that he had about \$20 (T 1131). His friend let him stay at her trailer, but she called the police, who quickly responded (T 1137). They found him inside, in the bathroom (T 1160). When arrested he had \$25. His hand was swollen, and he a cut on his forehead (T 1194).

Watson died as a result of wounds to his head.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Monlyn presents this court with 13 issues for it to consider. The first 8 deal with the guilt phase portion of his trial, and the remaining five focus on matters relating to the court's death sentence.

ISSUE I. Dr. Floro, the medical examiner, said that Watson was alive after he had been tied up. "And there is no rhyme or reason for me or anybody else to tie up a person who is already dead or dying, unconscious. He's not fighting." The court allowed that testimony, but it was wrong in doing so because what this expert said exceeded the limits of his expertise, and was in any event, something the jury could just as easily concluded without any expert's help.

ISSUE II. Dr. Floro also said that he saw now evidence of a bite mark on Watson's body. When Monlyn testified, he said he had bitten the victim on the hand. The prosecutor asked the defendant for an explanation of the medical examiner's testimony refuting what he said. The court erred in allowing that testimony asking this defendant to explain why that expert might be wrong. Such inquiry only strongly suggested that Monlyn was lying.

ISSUE III. The state also asked Monlyn why he had denied knowing Watson when arrested and why he had not sought to get him aid after fleeing the latter's farm. The first inquiry was fairly susceptible of being interpreted as a comment

on the defendant's right to remain silent. The second presented the defendant as a remorseless killer, an issue of character he had not introduced and which the state could not also present to the jury.

ISSUE IV. As part of its case in chief, the state called the victim's wife to testify that Alton Watson habitually carried \$200-\$300 in cash on him. It provided no other evidence that on the day he was killed he had that amount of money in his wallet. While personal habits can confirm or support that in a particular instance a person had, for example, a large sum of money, it cannot by itself establish that fact. The court here erred in letting the state prove Mr. Watson had a large amount of money on him when he was killed by relying solely on his wife's testimony of his habit of doing so.

ISSUE V. During the state's closing argument, the prosecutor said Monlyn "would have done Alton Watson a big favor if he had shot him." By focussing on the pain the victim suffered, the prosecutor invited the jury to find the defendant guilty of first degree murder for emotional reasons rather than a dispassionate inquiry into the defendant's guilt.

ISSUE VI. Johnny Craddock testified for the state that before the murder, Monlyn had told him he wanted to get out of jail for his birthday, and he was going to kill the first person he saw. That statement had no probative value except to exhibit

the defendant's bad character, and the court should have excluded it.

ISSUE VII. Monlyn requested the court specifically instruct the jury on the concerning circumstantial evidence. The court, of course, rejected that request based on decisions from this court. Considering the special circumstances of this case that was error. When this court removed the circumstantial evidence instruction from the standard jury instructions it left to the trial court's discretion whether, in specific instances, it should be read to the jury. Here, the trial court abused that discretion in refusing to instruct the jury on this special type of evidence.

ISSUE VIII. The reasonable doubt instruction given, which was the one provided in the standard jury instructions, is unconstitutional because it provides an inadequate definition of reasonable doubt.

ISSUE IX. The trial court, over defense counsel's objection, instructed the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor using the instruction disproved by this court. That error became reversible error because the facts did not support giving it.

ISSUE X. The court found Monlyn committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, but the facts support the equally plausible conclusion that Watson surprised Monlyn as the latter slept in his barn. During the ensuing

struggle over a shotgun, Monlyn got the upper hand, and killed Watson. Nothing showed any calm planning. Instead, the homicide was the result of this defendant's rage overcoming him.

ISSUE XI. Although the trial court gave the newest instruction on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator, the terms used to give that guidance suffer the same deficiency as those used in earlier, defective instructions. They lack any precise meaning.

ISSUE XII. While the court gave an instruction on mitigating evidence, it never defined what the jury could consider as such. That was error because, unlike aggravating factors, what the jury can consider to reduce a sentence of death is so broad and ill defined that the jury needs specific, special guidance about what it can consider in mitigating a capital sentence.

ISSUE XIII. Despite a defense request, the court refused to instruct the jury that could not consider separately the aggravating factors of pecuniary gain, and that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery. Well settled law prevents the court from doubling aggravating factors in sentencing a defendant to death. Recent recognition by the United States Supreme Court of the elevated importance of the jury's sentencing recommendation, suggest that the jury receive detailed instructions concerning that recommendation. That the court in this case

gave them no limiting guidance regarding the problem of doubling of aggravators was error.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE MEDICAL EXAMINER TO TESTIFY THAT THE VICTIM SUFFERED MORE BLOWS TO THE HEAD AFTER HE HAD BEEN BOUND AND GAGGED AND WAS STILL ALIVE, A VIOLATION OF MONLYN'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS' RIGHTS.

Dr. Bonifacio Floro, the medical examiner, testified about the injuries Alton Watson received during his fight with Monlyn. As such his testimony was typical of that forensic experts give in murder cases.

The murder here, however, was somewhat different in that the victim had been bound hand and foot. Exploring the sequence of events during the struggle, the prosecutor asked:

- Q. Do you have an opinion as to whether or not the binding and the gags were inflicted before or after the infliction of other blows?
- A. Well, it must have been put there before the infliction of the other blows.
- Q. Why do you say that?
- A. Well, as I said, Mr. Watson died of several other blows to the head, and I don't know which came first. And there is no rhyme or reason for me or anybody else to tie up a person who is already dead or dying, unconscious. He's not fighting.

MR. HUNT: I object to this testimony as being speculation, and it goes beyond his expertise as a medical doctor.

MR. BLAIR: Of course, Your Honor, Dr. Floro is qualified as a forensic pathologist and not, per se, as a clinical pathologist, and he is entitled to express his opinion based on all of the evidence.

MR. HUNT: But it amounts to an argument and speculation when he talks about "there's no rhyme or reason."

THE COURT: I'll allow his testimony up to that point-or up to this point.

(T 956-57).

Monlyn's lawyer was correct. Dr. Floro's testimony exceeded the limits of his expertise, and the court erred in not sustaining his objection.

Experts, unlike routine witness called to testify at a trial, can offer an opinion regarding their examination of evidence relevant to their expertise.

Section 90.702 Fla. Stats (1993). Section 90.702 allows such testimony when it helps or assists the jury resolve the issues before that body. Consequently, if the expert offers an opinion on matters outside of his area, it is inadmissible.

Likewise, if the testimony does not assist the jury, or said otherwise, the jury can reach a conclusion without his or her opinion, such testimony is inadmissible.

Johnson v. State, 393 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1980) (Factors affecting reliability of eye

witness identification are within understanding of average juror.)

In this case, Dr Floro's opinion that "there's no rhyme or reason for me or anybody else to tie up a person who is already dead or dying, unconscious." was a common sense conclusion the jury could well have reached without any prompting from this witness. It provided no assistance to the jury, in effect commenting on the defendant's mental state at the time of the homicide, an issue beyond this expert's specialty. Dr. Floro was qualified as an expert in forensic pathology. His expertise did not extend to probing the mind of Watson's assailant to determine his intent. Yet, that is what his testimony did. What the defendant thought or did not think when he tied Watson was beyond his expertise. See,

Drew v. State, 551 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989)(Defense expert's testimony about the purpose Drew entered victim's home and fired gun was inadmissible.)

The testimony was also inadmissible because the jury just as easily could have reached that conclusion without his assistance. See, Johnson, cited above. In Shaw v. State, 557 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), the First District Court of Appeal held that the trial court had erred (though harmlessly) in allowing a pathologist give his expert testimony that "the deceased was not engaged in a struggle immediately prior to her death." While that is the extent of the appellate court's holding, we can glean from it that opinions by medical experts about

matters which require no special talents in understanding and interpreting facts should be prohibited. Instead, the jury, composed of men and women from the community and usually experienced in drawing conclusions from facts and inferences from them, can as easily and probably with greater accuracy, make the appropriate conclusions. They do not need an expert to prod them along or suggest a conclusion that has "no rhyme or reason" to the contrary.

Floro's testimony not only was error, it was reversible error. The only question the jury had to resolve was Monlyn's intent when he killed Watson. The jury could have believed the victim surprised him and a struggle over the shotgun ensued. Dr. Floro's inadmissible testimony, however, would have supported the state's contention that the resulting homicide was premeditated rather than the act of a depraved mind, as Monlyn argued. His testimony could have affected the jury's deliberations, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), and this court cannot say with easy confidence that the court's error in admitting this expert's testimony had no affect on the jury's verdict.

This court should, therefore, reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING MONLYN'S OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR ASKING THE DEFENDANT ON CROSS-EXAMINATION IF THE MEDICAL EXAMINER WAS CORRECT IN THAT HE SAW NO EVIDENCE OF A BITE MARK ON THE VICTIM'S HAND, CONTRARY TO WHAT MONLYN SAID, A VIOLATION OF HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

During Dr. Floro's testimony, the state asked its witness "Did you find any evidence, Dr. Floro, of wounds caused by anything other than blunt trauma; for example stab wounds or bites or anything of that nature?" "No sir." "All of the wounds that you observed, then, were consistent with blunt trauma injury inflicted by that weapon?" "That's correct, sir." (T 955)

Later, Monlyn took the stand, and when the prosecutor examined him, he asked about a bite mark:

- Q. Did you bite him?
- A. As hard as I can.
- Q. Now, you heard the medical examiner, Dr. Floro, say that he didn't see any evidence of bite marks or other--

MR. HUNT: Judge, I'm going to object, and I'd like to approach the bench. . . . Judge, my objection is that Dr. Floro, to my recollection, never said one way or the other whether there were bite marks on him. He didn't testify there was; however, he did not testify there wasn't.

wasn't.

MR. BLAIR: Judge, I phrased the question because I had access to the defendant's statement. I knew what he said. I asked Dr. Floro, "Did you see evidence of any other trauma, such as bites or cuts, or anything other than blunt-force trauma," is the way I phrased it. But in my question was bite mark.

MR. HUNT: Well, if he wants to ask him whether he bit him, that's fine. But I don't think it's proper to ask him what somebody else is talking about The jury heard the testimony. What was said was said. But to try to repeat Dr. Floro's testimony in the form of a question is wrong.

MR. BLAIR: I think it's entirely proper to ask him if he has an explanation as to why there might not have been a bite mark on him at the time of the autopsy.

(T 1555).

After further argument, the court allowed the inquiry (T 1556).

- Q. You heard Dr. Floro, the medical examiner, when he testified?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you recall hearing him say anything about any bite marks?
- A. Yes, I remember him saying it.
- Q. And what he said was he didn't see any evidence of bite marks.

- A. Yes.
- Q. Is that right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Do you have an explanation as to why or how you could bite Mr. Watson hard enough that he is going to drop this barrel--
- A. There was--
- Q. -- and not leave any evidence of it?
- A. Well, there was a mark on his hand. I saw that. I saw a mark on his hand. . . .
- Q. But you heard Dr. Floro say there was no evidence of bit marks.
- A. Yes, I heard that.
- Q. And your explanation to that would be that Dr. Floro saw something, but did not think it was a bite mark?
- A. I don't know what my explanation is. I don't have one. But I know I bit him on the hand that morning.

(T 1557-58).

The court erred in allowing the state to extensively question Monlyn about the bite mark and why Dr. Floro had not found it. Such a mistake unfairly contributed to this defendant's convictions.

The law in this area and its rationale was nicely articulated by the Fourth

District Court of Appeals' opinion in <u>Boatwright v. State</u>, 452 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984):

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