FILED

END J. WHITE

AUG 2 1996

CLERK OF APPEALS COURT

BY

Debra Deputy Clerk

BRODERICK WENDELL MONLYN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 82,779

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MADISON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar #293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As this Court has held numerous times, error in the CCP instruction is harmless if the facts establish that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1120, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1705, 131 L. Ed. 2d 566 (1995); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 943, 130 L. Ed. 2d 887 (1995).⁵ The trial court made the following findings as

⁵ Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993), is factually distinguishable and does not

to CCP:

E. The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

FINDING:

The evidence produced at the guilt phase established this aggravator beyond any reasonable doubt. The evidence showed that the victim caught the Defendant trespassing at his fish pond approximately one and a half to two years prior to the murder. On this occasion the Defendant produced a pistol and shot at the victim. After this incident the Defendant spent a large portion of the intervening time in prison. While in prison the Defendant told Jerome Blackshear that when he got out of prison he was going to kill the victim. After he was released from prison, the Defendant was arrested and placed in the county jail. While there he told Johnny Craddock that he was going to escape, go home, and get his shotgun, kill the first person he saw, and steal that person's vehicle and leave the area. On the night before the murder, the Defendant told Darryl Adams that he was going to rob the victim of his truck at his barn. The Defendant was at the victim's barn the following morning armed with a shotgun which he had taken to the scene. He then concealed himself in the barn and waited on the victim to come to the barn which was his daily habit. Upon arrival of the victim, the Defendant brutally kidnapped and murdered him and then robbed him of his truck. All of these facts show calculation and the heightened

support Monlyn's argument (initial brief at 63-65) that instructional error cannot be harmless.

premeditation required to establish this aggravator. They further demonstrate that the Defendant planned to do violence in order to carry out his desire for revenge and to steal the victim's truck. Lamb v. State, 532 So. 2d 1051 (1988); Huff v. State, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Davis v. State, 461 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 1984); Eutzy v. State, 458 So. 2d 755 (Fla. 1984).

The fact that the Defendant inflicted far more injury to the victim than was necessary to accomplish the theft of his truck demonstrates the existence of this aggravator. Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (1993). Moreover, the fact that the Defendant was armed throughout the entire event, produced a weapon on [an] unsuspecting victim, made no effort to escape without resorting to the use of violence, and struck the victim numerous times demonstrates the existence of this aggravator. Jackson v. State, 498 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1986). The fact that the Defendant had had prior difficulty with the victim, laid in wait for him, and had time during the assault, between blows, to contemplate his actions and choose to kill the victim demonstrates the existence of this aggravator. Phillips v. State, 476 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985). Also, the fact that the Defendant purposefully chose the victim to be the subject of the attack is proof of this aggravator. Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987). The evidence further demonstrated the "coldness" of the Defendant's actions by the fact that he struck Mr. Watson 22 times in the head and face and inflicted 10 defensive wounds to him. There was no evidence that the Defendant had any moral or legal justification for his actions toward the victim. This aggravating circumstance, standing alone, justifies imposition of the death penalty.

(R 3035-37). The trial court properly found this murder to have been committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner because the facts establish this aggravator under any definitions.

The new, permanent CCP instruction defines "cold" as meaning "the murder was the product of calm and cool reflection" and "calculated" as "having a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder." Standard Jury Instructions, 665 So. 2d at 213. In addition, "a heightened level of premeditation, demonstrated by a substantial period of reflection is required," and "a pretense of moral or legal justification" means "any claim of justification or excuse that, though insufficient to reduce the degree of the murder, nevertheless rebuts the otherwise cold, calculated, and premeditated nature of the murder." Id. at 213-14.

Monlyn argues that the victim surprised him, causing a "ferocious" struggle for the shotgun, that the cases relied on by the trial court do not support the court's findings, and that the murder was committed in a panic or fit of rage. (Initial brief at 67-71). As the trial court found, however, the evidence showed that Monlyn had long planned to exact revenge on the victim by killing him. To that end, he stole his uncle's shotgun and hid on the victim's property even though other hiding places were available. (R 1534). When the victim came into the barn, Monlyn

beat him mercilessly both in the barn and the yard, dragged the victim back into the barn to conceal the crimes, and callously left the victim to die. The deliberate nature of the planning and execution of this murder demonstrate its coldness and that Monlyn had a prearranged design. The lengthy nature of the events leading to the murder and the length of time the beating took establish the required heightened premeditation. Fennie; Wuornos; Walls. Monlyn's claim of self-defense, being purely subjective, does not establish a pretense of moral or legal justification and in light of conflicting evidence could be rejected by the sentencer. Wuornos; Walls.

The time Monlyn had to plan and reflect on this killing, coupled with the ruthless manner in which he committed it, demonstrate that Monlyn murdered the victim in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. Fennie; Wuornos; Walls; Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1578, 128 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1994); Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla.), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 109, 126 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1993); Bruno v. State, 574 So. 2d 76 (Fla.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 834, 112 S. Ct. 112, 116 L. Ed. 2d 81 (1993). Where there is a legal basis for finding an aggravator this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla.

1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 938, 111 S. Ct. 2067, 114 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1991). Therefore, the trial court's finding CCP in aggravation should be affirmed.

Even if this Court decides that the trial court erred in finding that the CCP aggravator had been established, no relief is warranted. As stated by this Court previously: "If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the trial court's reliance on an invalid aggravator must be deemed harmless." Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S. Ct. 733, 98 L. Ed. 2d 681 (1988). Striking CCP would leave four valid aggravators, i.e., previous conviction of a violent felony, committed during the commission of a kidnapping, committed for pecuniary gain, and HAC.⁶ The trial court found that four nonstatutory mitigators had been established (Monlyn was affectionate and considerate toward his family; Monlyn was helpful to others; Monlyn had made a good adjustment to prison life; and Monlyn's behavior at trial) (R 3038-39), but concluded "that no mitigating circumstances, either statutory or established by testimony in the advisory sentence proceedings, exist to outweigh

⁶ As explained in issue XIII, infra, the trial court properly found both felony murder/kidnapping and pecuniary gain in aggravation.

or offset the aggravating circumstances which have been proven to the Court beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt." (R 3046).⁷ Given the presence of four strong aggravators, the lack of significant mitigators, and the jury's unanimous recommendation of death, there is no reasonable likelihood that Monlyn would have received a sentence of life imprisonment if the CCP aggravator had not been considered. Cf. Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 104-05 (Fla. 1996) (no reasonable likelihood of different sentence where striking an aggravator left two aggravators to be weighed against a statutory mitigator and three nonstatutory mitigators); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 697 (Fla. 1995) (no likelihood of different sentence when eliminating CCP left five aggravators to be weighed against "minimal mitigating evidence"); Foster v. State, 654 So. 2d 112, 115 (Fla. 1995) (eliminating CCP was harmless where three strong aggravators remained to be weighed against no statutory mitigators); Fennie, 648 So. 2d at 99 (eliminating CCP would be harmless because "[t]he totality of the aggravating factors and the lack of significant mitigating circumstances conclusively demonstrate that death is the appropriate penalty in

⁷ Monlyn does not challenge the trial court's consideration of the mitigating evidence, and the record supports the trial court's conclusions.

this case"); Pietri v. State, 644 So. 2d 1347, 1354 (Fla. 1994) (striking CCP left three aggravators and, even if trial court had found mitigators, there was no reasonable likelihood of a different sentence), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 2588, 132 L. Ed. 2d 836 (1995); Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where the three remaining aggravators "far outweigh the minimal mitigating evidence"), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1372, 131 L. Ed. 2d 227 (1995); Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59, 71-72 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against lack of a significant criminal history), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 940, 130 L. Ed. 2d 884 (1995); Stein v. State, 632 So. 2d 1361, 1367 (Fla.) (harmless error where four aggravators remained to be weighed against statutory mitigator), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 111, 130 L. Ed. 2d 58 (1994); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 204 (Fla.) (eliminating HAC was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against one statutory mitigator and one nonstatutory mitigator), cert. denied, 505 U.S. 1210, 112 S. Ct. 3006, 120 L. Ed. 2d 881 (1992).

The state established five aggravators or, as explained above, at the least four. Monlyn, on the other hand, established only four nonstatutory mitigators that the trial court found to be worth

little weight. Monlyn does not challenge the proportionality of his death sentence, but a comparison with similar cases demonstrates that his sentence is both proportionate and appropriate. Cf. Geralds, 674 So. 2d at 104-05 (death sentence proportionate when two aggravators weighed against one statutory and three nonstatutory mitigators); Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 679, 685 (Fla. 1995) (death sentence proportionate where there were three aggravators and five nonstatutory mitigators); Gamble v. State, 659 So. 2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1995) (death sentence proportionate where there were two aggravators, one statutory mitigator, and several nonstatutory mitigators); Bogle v. State, 655 So. 2d 1103, 1105-06, 1109-10 (Fla. 1995) (death sentence proportionate with four aggravators and one statutory and several nonstatutory mitigators); Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861, 864, 867 (Fla. 1994) (death sentence proportionate where five aggravators were weighed against nine nonstatutory, but no statutory, mitigators); Fennie, 648 So. 2d at 204-05 (death sentence proportionate where there were three valid aggravators and statutory and nonstatutory mitigators); Bruno v. State, 574 So. 2d 76, 83 (Fla.) (death sentence proportionate with three aggravators and no statutory mitigators), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 834, 112 S. Ct. 112, 116 L. Ed. 2d 81 (1991). Therefore, Monlyn's death

sentence should be affirmed.

ISSUE XI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL (HAC) AGGRAVATOR.

Monlyn claims that the trial court gave the jury an unconstitutional HAC instruction. There is no merit to this issue.

The day before the sentencing hearing, Monlyn filed a written objection to the standard HAC instruction (R 2973-76) and two proposed alternative instructions. (R 2972, 2981). At the first penalty-phase charge conference Monlyn argued that the facts did not support HAC and that the HAC instruction was unconstitutional. (SR 32-33). The state responded that the new HAC instruction cured the former one's problems, and the court held it would give the standard instruction. (SR 34). Monlyn renewed his objection to the constitutionality of the HAC instruction at the second penalty-phase charge conference (R 2279-80), and the court again declared it would give the standard instruction. (R 2285). The court then gave the standard instruction. (R 2364-65).

Monlyn recognizes that this Court approved the instruction at issue in this case in Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla.), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 109, 126 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1991). (Initial brief at

72). Moreover, this Court has been consistent in following Hall. E.g., Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 1995); Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1120, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (1995); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 943, 130 L. Ed. 2d 887 (1995); Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 518, 130 L. Ed. 2d 424 (1994). Monlyn has shown no reason why this Court should reconsider this issue, and this claim should be denied as being without merit.

Even if this Court were to find error in the HAC instruction, such error would be harmless because this murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel under any definition of those terms. This Court has uniformly held that beating deaths are HAC. E.g., Bogle v. State, 655 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 1995) (seven blows to the head established HAC); Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1994) (estimated thirty-minute beating established HAC aggravator); Colina v. State, 634 So. 2d 1077 (Fla.) (beating deaths were HAC), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 330, 130 L. Ed. 2d 289 (1994); Penn v. State, 574 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1991) (beating victim to death with hammer was HAC); Bruno v. State, 574 So. 2d 76 (Fla.) (beating victim to death with crowbar was HAC), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 834,

112 S. Ct. 112, 116 L. Ed. 2d 81 (1991); Cherry v. State, 544 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1989) (HAC where victim was literally beaten to death), cert. denied, 494 U.S. 1090, 110 S. Ct. 1835, 108 L. Ed. 2d 963 (1990); Chandler v. State, 534 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1988) (beating victims to death with baseball bat was HAC), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1075, 109 S. Ct. 2089, 104 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1989); Lamb v. State, 532 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1988) (beating victim to death with hammer was HAC). Monlyn does not challenge the trial court's findings with respect to the HAC aggravator. Those findings (R 3034-35), however, are supported by the record and should be affirmed.

ISSUE XII

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GIVING A REQUESTED INSTRUCTION DEFINING MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Monlyn complains that the trial court refused to give his requested instruction defining mitigating circumstances. This issue, however, has not been preserved for review. Even if it were cognizable on appeal, however, this claim has no merit.

The written instructions submitted the day before the penalty phase contained a paragraph defining mitigating circumstances. (R 2979). Monlyn, however, never brought this proposed instruction to the court's attention, even though two penalty-phase charge conferences were held, and never secured a ruling on the proposed

instruction. The courts of this state have long held that "it is the movant's burden to secure rulings on his or her motions, and that failure to obtain a ruling on a motion effectively waives that motion." State v. Kelley, 588 So. 2d 595, 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); State v. Barber, 301 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1974); Flanagan v. State, 586 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Lerettilley v. Harris, 354 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 359 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 1978); see also Parker v. Dugger, 660 So. 2d 1386 (Fla. 1995). Because Monlyn did not secure a ruling on the proposed instruction, this claim has been waived.

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